SUPREME COURT FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA DEC 1 0 2015

In re I.C., A Person Coming Under the	No. S229276	Frank A. McGuire Clerk
Juvenile Court Law ALAMEDA COUNTY SOCIAL SERVICES AGENCY,	Court of Appeal Ca No. A141143	Deputy se
Petitioner and Respondent, v.	Alameda County Superior Court Case SJ12019578-01	e No.
Alberto C., Objector and Appellant.		

APPELLANT, ALBERTO C.'S, OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

After the Published Decision by the Court of Appeal First District, Division Two Filed August 6, 2015

Louise E. Collari
Attorney-at-Law
Ca Bar # 156244
4115 Blackhawk Plaza Circle
Suite 100
Danville, CA 94506
(925) 487-3795
louisecollari@gmail.com

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- 1) Did the juvenile court err by failing to determine whether the truthfulness of the minor as a hearsay declarant was "so clear from the surrounding circumstances that the test of cross-examination would be of marginal utility" as required by *In re Lucero L.* (2000) 22 Cal.4th 1227?
- 2) Did the Court of Appeal err by affirming the trial court's jurisdictional finding without reviewing the entire record for substantial evidence of the minor's clear truthfulness?

INTRODUCTION

At issue in this case is whether the trial court's jurisdictional finding that appellant father Alberto C. had sexually abused his daughter, and the Court of Appeal's subsequent affirmance of that finding, correctly applied the standard set forth by this Court in *In re Lucero L.*, *supra*, 22 Cal.4th 1227 (*Lucero L.*).

This Court in *Lucero L*. required that the clear truthfulness and reliability of the hearsay statements of a truth incompetent non-testifying young child be established before allowing that hearsay statement to be the sole basis for a jurisdictional finding. It is father's contention that not only was the *Lucero L*. mandate incorrectly implemented by both the juvenile court and Court of Appeal, but that the majority's decision in *In re I.C*. (2015) 239 Cal.App.4th 304, reh'g denied (Aug. 26, 2015), review granted Oct. 28, 2015 (S229276) (*I.C.*) must be overturned as it eviscerates the due process protections previously provided by this Court to a parent who is placed in the difficult position of refuting an uncorroborated allegation of sexual abuse of his or her own child. *I.C.* also creates binding appellate precedent directly contradicting *Lucero L.*, thus leading to confusion among lower courts.

In Lucero L., this Court established that the hearsay statements of a truth incompetent non-testifying minor may not be relied on exclusively to establish jurisdiction in dependency proceedings unless the court finds that the "time, content and circumstances of the statement provide sufficient indicia of reliability." (Lucero L., supra, 22 Cal.4th at p. 1248.) The Lucero L. court emphasized,

The importance of juvenile court scrutiny of the statements of young children who are both legally incompetent and insulated from cross-examination. At least in the case of a truth incompetent minor, the court may rely exclusively on these out-of-court statements only 'if the declarant's truthfulness is so clear from the surrounding circumstances that the test of cross-examination would be of marginal utility...' (*Idaho v. Wright* (1990) 497 U.S. 805, 820.)

(Lucero L., supra, 22 Cal.4th at 1249.)

The "test of cross-examination" referenced in *Lucero L*. required that for a juvenile court to assert jurisdiction over a dependent minor based solely on out-of-court hearsay statements, the court must be convinced that

the declarant - the minor - is so clearly telling the truth that, were the minor able to testify, the juvenile court could not imagine that cross-examination would be useful whatsoever to determine the hearsay statement's reliability.

Despite this clear mandate, in the case at bar, the majority opinion by the First District Court of Appeal, Division Two, adopted a "novel application" of the *Lucero L*. standard which was premised on the incorrect assertion that "obviously, the 'test of cross-examination' does not refer to the minor." (*I.C., supra,* 239 Cal.App.4th at p. 308.) As Justice Stewart pointed out in the dissent, the *I.C.* majority "precipitously acquiesced in a trial court's determination of a hearsay declarant's credibility without further review" given the majority's belief in the "scrupulousness with which the juvenile court evaluated the pros and cons of the hearsay statements." (*Id.*, at pp. 325, 346 (dis. opn.).) The "scrupulousness" of a juvenile court's review of the evidence presented to it was not the standard set forth by this Court in *Lucero L*. Allowing the *I.C.* majority's "novel application" to stand undermines what this Court in *Lucero L*. stated was constitutionally required to establish jurisdiction based solely on out-of-court statements of a non-testifying truth incompetent minor.

In contrast, in this case, the juvenile court relied solely on the admittedly unclear, confused, uncorroborated, and unchallenged hearsay statements of a non-testifying truth incompetent three-year-old child to label her father as a child molester, and to break the family apart. The First District Court of Appeal, Division Two, then essentially rubberstamped the juvenile court's decision when it declined to review the record for substantial evidence of the child's clear truthfulness. (*I.C.*, supra, 239 Cal.App.4th 304.)

Juvenile dependency courts are charged with the difficult task of maintaining the delicate balance between the state's interest in protecting children from abuse and a parent's "fundamental liberty interest" in the "care, custody, and management" of their children. (See *Maryland v. Craig* (1990) 497 U.S. 836, 852; *Santosky v. Kramer* (1982) 455 U.S. 744, 753.) Recognizing the dangers inherent in that balancing act, the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment guarantees that, "the fundamental liberty interest of natural parents . . . does not evaporate simply because they have not been model parents or have lost temporary custody of their child to the state." (*Santosky v. Kramer, supra*, 455 U.S. 745, 753.)

Allegations of sexual abuse of a child by a parent highlight the tension between, on the one hand, protecting a child from abuse that is often hidden from the view of others and, on the other hand, ensuring that a parent's due process rights are protected so that a parent is not unjustly deprived of his or her liberty interests in raising his or her child and that a parent is not falsely labeled a child molester with all the vilification and humiliation such a label brings. Accordingly, when allegations of sexual abuse of a child by his or her parent made, the need for reliable findings by the juvenile court is crucial.

Ensuring that the hearsay evidence used to support a jurisdictional finding is sufficiently constitutionally reliable was the intent of this Court in *Lucero L*. Without the assurance of any corroborating evidence, it is essential that the courts are able to guarantee the trustworthiness of those unsupported hearsay statements before labeling a parent as a child molester and breaking a family apart. The correct and consistent application of the standard proscribed by this Court in *Lucero L*. is essential to protect the child, the parents, and the state from the effects of an unsupported jurisdictional finding with its far reaching and long lasting consequences.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. The Juvenile Court Proceedings

Father appealed from the juvenile court's jurisdictional and dispositional findings entered on March 27, 2013. These findings were based on a Welfare and Institutions Code¹ section 300 petition filed on September 14, 2012, pursuant to subdivision (d).² (2CT 498.)

- 1. Events which preceded the filing of the section 300 petition
 - a. July 2012 molestation of I.C. by Oscar, the neighbor

In 2012, then three-year-old I.C. lived with her mother, her father, and her five-year-old brother, J.C. Her parents had a stable marriage, participated in social activities and were active members of their community. Mother and father were both employed, with father having been employed with the same employer for over 23 years. Neither parent had any criminal arrests or convictions in Alameda County, or any prior child welfare history. (1CT 57, 65; Supp CT 523, 563, 567; 7/10/13 RT 20, 21; 11/14/13 RT 110.)

On July 2, 2012, mother discovered that an eight-year-old neighbor, Oscar, had molested I.C. during a play date. I.C., her five-year-old brother,

¹ All further statutory references are to the Welfare and Institutions Code, unless specified otherwise.

² Section 300, subdivision (d) states as follows: Any child who comes within any of the following descriptions is within the jurisdiction of the juvenile court which may adjudge that person to be a dependent child of the court: (d) The child has been sexually abused, or there is a substantial risk that the child will be sexually abused, as defined in Section 11165.1 of the Penal Code, by his or her parent or guardian or a member of his or her household, or the parent or guardian has failed to adequately protect the child from sexual abuse when the parent or guardian knew or reasonably should have known that the child was in danger of sexual abuse. (§ 300, subd. (d).)

J.C., and Oscar were playing in I.C. and J.C.'s bedroom. Mother went to check on the children and found the bedroom door closed. When mother opened the door, she saw a blanket over the bunk bed and when mother entered, the children "moved really fast." (1/14/13 RT 41, 1/25/13 RT 16, 17.) I.C. was in the back corner of the bed, Oscar was in the middle and J.C. was at the side of the bunk bed. (1/25/13 RT 17.) Mother asked what they were doing and I.C. said they were kissing, J.C. began to cry, and Oscar said they weren't doing anything. (1/14/13 RT 41; 1/25/13 RT 18.) Mother asked J.C. what was happening and J.C. said that Oscar was kissing I.C and "he put a train in her." (1/14/13 RT 42.) Mother noticed that a wooden train was on the bed in between the children. (1/14/13 RT 42, 1/25/13 RT 17.) Mother "freaked out" and told Oscar to get out of the house. (1/14/13 RT 42.) After Oscar left, J.C. told mother that Oscar was laying on top of I.C. and kissing her and said "we're going to fuck." (1CT 87-88.)

An officer with the Fremont Police Department responded to the home and interviewed mother, I.C. and J.C. (1CT 86.) I.C. told the officer that Oscar asked her to remove her shoes, socks, pants and underwear, inserted a wooden train into her vagina, and kissed her on the mouth. When asked if she was hurt, I.C. told the officer that her vagina hurt. (1CT 87-88.) J.C. told the officer that Oscar told him to "look away several times." (1CT 87.) J.C. stated that he looked away "most of the time" but he looked and saw Oscar put a train inside I.C.'s vagina. (1CT 87.)

After speaking to police, mother took I.C. to Kaiser Hospital in Fremont for a medical examination. (1CT 63, 87.) The doctor examined I.C. and told mother that he could not tell whether Oscar had used the train or if he had sex with I.C. (1/14/13 RT 46.) Mother testified that the doctor stated that "he could see there was trauma but the hymen was intact." (1/25/13 RT 23.)

Mother attempted to obtain counseling for I.C. after the incident but was unsuccessful as she had difficulty finding a counselor who could work with such a young child. (1/14/13 RT 46.) Mother, herself, entered therapy due to her distress over the incident. (1CT 150.)

For the next few months, the family avoided any contact with Oscar, but had many conversations about what had happened. (1/14/13 RT 30, 46, 49 56, 57; 1/25/13 RT 27, 30, 38-39.) The family used correct anatomical terminology, including vagina and penis, when discussing the incident with I.C. (1/14/13 RT30, 56, 57; 1/25/13 RT 27, 30, 38-39.) During these family discussions, I.C. spoke freely in front of father who tried to comfort I.C. and give advice. (1/14/13 RT 57.)

I.C. and the family did not see Oscar for the remainder of the summer until J.C. started school on September 7, 2012. (1 CT 24, 57; 1/14/13 RT 59, 60, 67.) During that first week of school, J.C. told mother in front of I.C. that Oscar pushed him down the slide at school, followed him into the lunchroom, called him a "loser" and destroyed his lunch. (1CT 24, 57; 1/14/13 RT 59, 60, 67.) I.C. was frightened and confused that Oscar was going to the same school as J.C., so mother talked to her about it "all weekend." (1/14/13 RT 66.)

b. I.C.'s Statements on September 11, 2012

On September 11, 2012, four days after seeing Oscar for the first time since the molestation, I.C. told mother as she was going to bed that "daddy put his penis on me." J.C. was in the room and corrected I.C. saying, "No, that's what Oscar did." (1/14/13 RT 16-18, 22, 24, 32.) I.C. told mother it happened on the lower bunk bed but did not say when father did these things nor did she mention anything about being hurt or that she was afraid of father. (1/14/13 RT 20, 22, 24, 32, 36.) Mother tried to learn more from I.C. but her story "didn't seem like it all went together and made very much sense." (1/14/13 RT 23.)

The next morning, September 12, mother asked I.C. about her statement the night before and I.C. said "I was just kidding." (1/14/13 RT 25.) Mother decided it was best to take I.C. to preschool, even though it was not her regular day, since "she told me something within the last 12 hours that was rather alarming." (1/14/13 RT 15, 16, 25, 26.) Mother woke father before she left and told him what I.C. had said. Father responded, "that's crazy." (1/14/13 RT 28.)

Later that same day, I.C. told a preschool worker that her father was mad at her and hit the wall causing a hole in the wall. (1CT 93.) I.C. then further stated "Daddy took his penis and put it on me. Mommy is upset and I went to the doctor. I am fine." (1CT 93.) Both the Fremont police and a social worker responded to the school. (1CT 92.) The emergency social worker who first interviewed I.C. at the preschool reported that I.C. "was not able to tell the difference between telling a truth and telling a lie." (1CT 24.)

Mother was called and I.C. was taken to the police station. (1CT 92.) I.C. and J.C. were transported to the Child Abuse Listening and Interviewing and Coordination Center (CALICO) facility to be interviewed. (1CT 93.) At the beginning of the interview, I.C. was asked, "Do you promise that you will tell me the truth"? I.C. responded, "Yep." The interviewer asked "Are you going to tell me any lies"? I.C. responded, "Nope." The interviewer proceeded to ask I.C. what she had done that day, before the interview. (9/12/12 Aug³ RT 4-6.) I.C. told the interviewer that before coming to the interview she had watched a movie, took a nap with her babysitter, went to the store with her mother, went to the park with her father, went to school, played at home and went to San Francisco. (9/12/12

³ "Aug RT" will refer to the additional reporter's transcript that was provided in response to father's motion to transcribe the CALICO DVDs.

Aug RT 4-6.) None of these statements, except for the fact that she had gone to preschool, were accurate. (1CT 92, 93, 105; 1/14/13 RT 15, 16, 25, 26.) The interviewer did not question I.C.'s version of the day's events but proceeded with her questions.

I.C. told the interviewer that she had told Miss Karen at preschool that "daddy put penis on me"... "then put train on me, then he put a flower on me yesterday" and he "put a necklace on" her. (9/12/12 Aug RT 8.) I.C. stated that this happened on her brother's bed but also on the bed in the CALICO interview room and on a bean bag. (9/12/12 Aug RT 29-32.) I.C. stated that father took off her shoes, pants, shirt, underwear and socks and that father did not have any clothes on and he kissed her. (9/12/12 Aug RT 10.) I.C. stated that she told her father to stop five times and that he can't touch her vagina but he did not listen to her and "it did not feel good." (9/12/12 Aug RT 11-12.) I.C. stated that this had occurred the day before when mother was at work and J.C. was at school. (9/12/12 Aug RT 18-19.) I.C. stated that she ran away to her house and the car after it happened and she was by herself. (9/12/12 Aug RT 24-25.) I.C. said that "daddy was not here and was somewhere else" when this happened. (9/12/12/ Aug RT 25.) I.C. said that she called her "mom and the police officer." (9/12/12 Aug RT 16.) I.C. said that when she told mother, mother said "daddy was going to be in so much trouble" and that RJ, her adult sister, told her that father was going to jail forever. (9/12/12 Aug RT 27, 55.) I.C. said that father told the police that he promised he would not do it again.⁴ (9/12/12 Aug RT 27.)

⁴ The Fremont police report stated that father cooperated with the police officers when he was interviewed on September 12, 2012. (1CT 97.) Nothing in the record indicated that I.C. knew of such a conversation between father and police and, in any event, father consistently denied molesting her.

During the interview I.C. stated that a train was a penis and that the train was red. (9/12/12 Aug RT 21.) I.C. also stated that she had seen father touch RJ and put his penis and train on her as well. (9/12/12 Aug RT 32-34.) I.C. stated this happened on J.C.'s bed and "everybody" was in the bed including RJ, herself, her father, her babysitter and the babysitter's sister. (9/12/12 Aug RT 36-37.)

At the end of the interview, I.C. was asked if she had seen any "adult movies." I.C. responded that she watched "Rapunzel" on television, that a ghost had put the movie on, and that she heard a knocking at the door and thought it was a ghost. (9/12/12 Aug RT 48-49, 51-53.)

After the CALICO interview, I.C. was transported to Children's Hospital for a sexual assault exam. (1CT 105.) The Sexual Assault Response Team (SART) report did not note any visible trauma to I.C. but provided a diagnosis of vulvovaginitis. (1CT 105, 168, 173.)

On September 12, the police also conducted a search of the family home. The family's babysitter, Bianca, was at the house and was interviewed by the police. Bianca indicated that she had been working with the family for six months. She was not aware of anything inappropriate at the house and stated that father had never done or said anything inappropriate to her. (1CT 97.) During the police search of the residence, an alternate light source was used in the children's bedroom to search for the presence of suspected semen or other biological fluids. None were found. (1CT 99, 103.) No biological evidence was found in the hamper or next to the washer/dryer. (1CT 103.) The police report made no mention of any holes found in the interior walls of the home. (1CT 99.)

That same day, Fremont police officers contacted father at his place of employment. Father was cooperative and agreed to come to Fremont to talk to a detective. (1CT 97, 98.) Father also agreed to a search of his car, which did not contain any "illegal items or contraband." (1CT 97.)

2. The Section 300 Petition

On September 14, 2012, the Alameda County Social Services Agency (hereinafter "the Agency") filed a petition pursuant to section 300, subdivisions (d) and (j) on behalf of minors I.C. and J.C., who were born in January 2009, and November 2006, respectively. (1CT 1.) The petition generally alleged that I.C. had been sexually abused by father, that mother had failed to adequately protect her from the sexual abuse, and that mother knew or should reasonably have known that the child was in danger of sexual abuse. (1CT 4.) The petition alleged under subdivision (j) that J.C. was at risk due to the alleged abuse of I.C. (1CT 5.)

Specifically, under subdivision (d) the petition alleged the following: (d-1) 1) that on more than one occasion, I.C. spontaneously stated that "Daddy put his penis on me"; 2) that I.C. had pointed to her vaginal area and complained that it hurt; 3) that I.C. stated that father put foreign objects in her vagina, including a flower, a train and that it did not feel good; 4) that I.C. stated that father will take off her clothes and his clothes and lay on bed with her and kiss her on the mouth; 5) that father kissed her vagina when she was in her brother's bed; and 6) that I.C. stated that she watched a movie where a boy kisses a girl and they were not wearing clothes; (d-2) that mother failed to protect I.C., in that I.C. told mother yet father continued to reside in the home; and (d-3) mother did not believe that father sexually molested I.C. (1CT 4.)

At the September 17, 2012, detention hearing, counsel for father requested that the children be returned to mother. Father was willing to be out of the home immediately and agreed to a temporary restraining order to ensure his removal from the home.⁵ (9/17/12 RT 4-5, 9.) The juvenile court

⁵ A temporary restraining order was issued by the juvenile court against father on October 2, 2012, which was scheduled to expire on December 3, 2012. (1CT 140, 142-145.)

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