IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIAJAN 1 1 2016

In re I.C., A Person Coming Under the Juvenile Court Law

ALAMEDA COUNTY SOCIAL SERVICES AGENCY,

Petitioner and Respondent,

v. Alberto C.,

Objector and Appellant.,

No. S229276 Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Court of Appeal Case No. A141143

Alameda County Superior Court Case No. SJ12019578-01

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

After the Published Decision by the Court of Appeal First District, Division Two Filed August 6, 2015

Donna R. Ziegler [SBN 142415]
Nicole L. Roman [SBN 267730]
Office of the County Counsel, County of Alameda
1221 Oak Street, Suite 450
Oakland, CA 94612
510-272-6700
nicole.roman@acgov.org
Attorneys for Respondent

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

This Court reviewed the case, and a plurality held that Section 355 was constitutional with regard to the admissibility of a minor's hearsay statements contained in Agency reports. However, the Court recognized that "the admissibility and substantiality of hearsay evidence are different issues." (*Id.* at 1244.) The Court held that due process does not require that an incompetent minor's statement be corroborated. (*Id.* at 1248-1249.) Thus, the minor's hearsay statements do not need corroborating evidence to be found reliable. Nonetheless, the Court was concerned by Section 355's delegation of power to a hearsay statement of an incompetent minor. (*Id.* at 1245.)

Because no corroboration was required, additional scrutiny was necessary for the hearsay statement of an incompetent minor unavailable for cross-examination. (*Id.* at 1249.)

Thus, the Court imposed an additional requirement. The Court held that, Section 355

notwithstanding, due process concerns require that the trial court find that "the time, content and circumstances of the statement provide sufficient indicia of reliability" in order for an incompetent minor's hearsay statement to form the exclusive basis for sustaining jurisdiction over the minor. (*Id.* at 1248.) The Court later explained the standard in another way, stating: "the court may rely exclusively on these out-of-court statements only 'if the declarant's truthfulness is so clear from the surrounding circumstances that the test of cross-examination would be of marginal utility." (*Id.* at 1249.) The Court stated that "the factors bearing on a statement's reliability are not limited to those specifically enumerated in *Cindy L.* or *Idaho v. Wright*—any factor bearing on reliability may be considered." (*Id.* at 1250.)

In examining the case before it, the Court noted that the trial court had found that the minor's hearsay statements possessed sufficient indicia of reliability because the minor's statements to the social worker were spontaneous. (*Id.* at 1249.) The Court noted that it was bound by the substantial evidence standard: "we must uphold the court's findings if they are supported by substantial evidence," citing to *Soto v. State of California* (1997) 56 Cal.App.4th 196, 199. (*Id.* at 1249.) The *Lucero L.* court did not call for a de novo standard of review of truthfulness. The *Lucero L.* court did not reexamine all of the testimony to determine if it thought the minor was truthful. Rather, the *Lucero L.* court reviewed the court's findings under a substantial evidence standard.

⁷ The *Soto* court applied a traditional substantial evidence standard of review, where "The court must draw all reasonable inferences from the evidence set forth in the papers except where such inferences are contradicted by other inferences or evidence which raise a triable issue of fact...and doubts as to the propriety of granting the motion should be resolved in favor of the party opposing the motion." (*Soto*, 56 Cal.App.4th at 199.)

The court found the trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding the statements reliable. (*Id.* at 1250.) It held that "substantial evidence supports a finding of reliability" and affirmed the appellate court's ruling. (*Id.*)

C. THE JUVENILE COURT PROPERLY ASSESSED THE TRUTHFULNESS OF THE MINOR UNDER LUCERO L.

1. I.C.'S STATEMENTS CONTAINED SUFFICIENT INDICIA OF RELIABILITY AS IDENTIFIED IN LUCERO L.

I.C.'s statements contained the sufficient indicia of reliability required by *Lucero L.* I.C.'s statements contained several, if not all, of the characteristics of reliability identified in *Cindy L.* and *Lucero L.* I.C.'s statements were spontaneous, consistent in their repetition, and precocious given her age. She lacked a motive to lie. An expert witness testified that I.C. was credible, and knew the difference between the truth and a lie.

First, I.C.'s statements about the abuse were spontaneous. I.C. spontaneously disclosed the abuse to Mother on the evening of September 11. (1/14/13 RT 18.) The next day, I.C. spontaneously disclosed the abuse again to a preschool teacher. (CT 93.)

The evidence demonstrated that I.C. disclosures were consistent and repeated. She disclosed her abuse on <u>five separate occasions</u> to <u>five separate people</u>. On September 11, I.C. told Mother, "My dad put his penis on me." (1/14/13 RT 18:17-24.) On the morning of September 12, I.C. approached Teacher A. and said "Dad did something real bad. He hurt me with his penis...." (CT 93.) I.C. later told Teacher M. that "Daddy took his penis and put it on me....." (Id.) She later told Child Welfare Worker Villa "Dad

touched my vagina with his penis," and described where the incident occurred in her home. (CT 24; 93.) She subsequently provided a detailed description of the incident to the CALICO interviewer several times. Among other things, she specifically stated that Father "put his penis on me" and kissed her on the mouth while on the bed. (CT 94.) As the *Lucero* court stated, "Given this consistency over a considerable period of time reported by multiple sources, we cannot conclude the trial court abused its discretion in finding the statements reliable."." (*In re Lucero L.*, supra, 22 Cal. 4th at p. 1250.)

The evidence also demonstrated that I.C.'s knowledge of sexual matters was precocious given her age. I.C. was intelligent with good communication skills for her age. Throughout her disclosures, I.C. consistently used proper terminology for male and female genitalia. Ms. Cooper, with 36 years of experience as a child welfare worker, described I.C. as "being very, very intelligent and very, very mature, beyond the age of three. And she has a very high level of language development." (1/25/13 RT 49.)

The evidence also established that I.C. lacked a motive to lie. Ms. Cooper, stipulated to be an expert witness in child sexual abuse, testified that I.C. had no possible motive to make these allegations. (1/25/13 RT 58.) There was likewise no evidence of "fraud, deceit, or undue influence." (Section 355(c)(1)(B).)

Other factors, including Ms. Cooper's expert witness testimony, provided additional indicia of reliability. (*Lucero L., supra*, 22 Cal. 4th at 1250.) Ms. Cooper is an expert in risk assessment for child abuse and child sexual abuse. (1/25/13 RT 44-45.) Ms. Cooper opined that I.C. knew the difference between the truth and a lie. (1/25/13 RT 53.) Ms. Cooper testified that most of I.C.'s statements in the CALICO interview

regarding what Father did to her were credible. (1/25/13 RT 53.) Ms. Cooper did not believe that I.C. could confuse her father with somebody else, and did not believe that I.C.'s statements that she was sexually abused by Father were a result of seeing the neighborhood boy who had sexually assaulted her previously. (1/25/13 RT 53, 66-67.) Ms. Cooper believed that Father sexually abused I.C. (1/25/13 RT 57-58; 62.)

Appellant argues that I.C.'s CALICO interview is unreliable because it occurred in the presence of closed-circuit cameras. (OB, pg. 64-65.) First, such an argument is meritless because it would necessarily exclude all CALICO interviews, since all are recorded by closed circuit camera. In any event, research demonstrates that once children have made an abuse disclosure, they are likely to maintain their allegations during formal assessments such as CALICO. (Kamala London, et al., *Disclosure of Child Sexual Abuse: What Does the Research Tell Us About the Ways That Children Tell?* 11 PSYCHOLOGY PUBLIC POLICY & LAW 194, 209.) I.C. had previously disclosed her abuse to Mother, preschool teachers, and Child Welfare Worker Villa. (1/14/13 RT 18, CT 93.) There is no reason to believe that she would have "acted" for the camera at the CALICO interview. In any event, it is not the place of appellate courts to gauge the credibility of witness testimony. "Issues of fact and credibility are questions for the trial court." (*In re B.D.* (2007) 156 Cal.App.4th 975, 986.)

Appellant likewise highlights the lack of physical evidence of the sexual abuse, claiming that it demonstrates unreliability. However, *Lucero L.* specifically stated that no such corroborating evidence is required. (*In re Lucero L.*, *supra*, 22 Cal. 4th at 1248-1249.) Furthermore, in most child sexual abuse cases, there is no medical evidence, and

the child is the only eye witness. (Bays, Chadwick, *Medical Diagnosis of the Sexually Abused Child.* (1993) 17 Child Abuse and Neglect 91–110.) Justice Chin's concurring opinion in *Lucero L.* noted as much, stating: "The need to protect a child is especially compelling in this situation. If a parent abuses a particularly young child in private and leaves no physical marks, two common scenarios, the child *cannot be protected* if the trial court does not consider and act on his or her hearsay statements." (*In re Lucero L., supra,* 22 Cal. 4th at 1254, Chin, J., conc.)

Lucero L. is instructive to the instant action. In Lucero L., the trial court found the Section 300(d) count true based solely on Lucero's statements to the social worker and her older sister. (Id. at 1236.) Lucero L. is similar to the instant action, in that the minors were approximately the same age, and made repeated, consistent statements disclosing their abuse. (Id. at 1232, 1250.) However, it is quite apparent that Lucero's statements had far fewer indicia of reliability than I.C.'s. Unlike I.C., it appears that the video of Lucero's forensic interview was not submitted into evidence. Unlike I.C., it was unclear whether Lucero knew the difference between the truth and a lie. (Id. at 1233-1234.) Unlike I.C., Lucero had limited verbal skills and difficulty identifying relevant body parts. (Id.) Lucero did not disclose her abuse to as many people as I.C. (Id. at 1232.) Despite these supposed shortcomings, the lower court found Lucero's statements to be reliable, and the Court of Appeal and this Court affirmed that finding. (Id. at 1236-1237, 1250.) It follows that I.C.'s statements, which contain far more indicia of reliability than those in Lucero L., likewise contain sufficient indicia of reliability.

There was sufficient indicia of reliability surrounding I.C.'s statements to prove that cross-examination of I.C. would have been of marginal utility. The trial court properly took jurisdiction based on I.C.'s hearsay statements.

2. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY IDENTIFIED AND APPLIED THE LUCERO L. STANDARD

As stated above, under *Lucero L.*, "the out-of-court statements of a child who is subject to a jurisdictional hearing and who is disqualified as a witness because of the lack of capacity to distinguish between truth and falsehood at the time of testifying may not be relied on exclusively unless the court finds that 'the time, content and circumstances of the statement provide sufficient indicia of reliability." (*In re Lucero L.*, *supra*, 22 Cal. 4th at 1247-48.)

There is no doubt that the trial court acknowledged and applied the *Lucero L*. standard when making its determination. As the Court of Appeal remarked, "[t]he principles outlined in *Cindy L*. and *Lucero* were clearly in the juvenile court's mind when it made its decision at the jurisdictional hearing." (*In re I.C.*, *supra*, 239 Cal.App.4th at 317-318.) The appellate court noted the trial court decision's multiple references to *Lucero L*. in its own opinion. (*Id*.)

The trial court's record is likewise replete with such references. The parties referenced *Lucero L.*, the factors indicating reliability, and the requirement for a reliability finding in their closing arguments. (3/15/13 RT 9; 27-28; 34-35; 39; 42.)

Although this is not evidence, it demonstrates the court's awareness of the legal standard at issue.

The court's decision likewise demonstrates that it found that "the time, content, and circumstances" of I.C.'s statements provided a sufficient indicia of reliability. (*In re Lucero L., supra*, 22 Cal. 4th at 1247-48.) The trial court acknowledged the *Lucero L.* standard, noting that "if the court finds that the type, content, and circumstances of the statement provide sufficient indicia of reliability, they can be used as basis for the Court in taking jurisdiction of the matter." (3/27/13 RT 3.) The trial court then cited to *Cindy L.* and *Lucero L.* as providing some factors that could be used to determine the reliability of those statements: spontaneity, consistency, lack of prompting, and lack of motive to lie. (*Id.*)

The trial court found I.C.'s statement to Mother that "Daddy put penis on me" completely spontaneous. (3/27/13 RT 4.) The trial court found that I.C.'s subsequent disclosures to the daycare workers were likewise spontaneous. (*Id.*) The trial court specifically noted that I.C. "was not prompted by any adults that she talked to." (*Id.*)

The trial court found that I.C. had "consistently repeated the same core allegations to various people: Her mother, the day care center staff, and the CALICO staff." (Id.)

The trial court found that I.C. lacked any motive to lie about the statements that she made. (3/27/13 RT 5.)

The trial court acknowledged that there was some of I.C.'s statements were confusing and difficult to follow, leading to the parent's theory that I.C.'s disclosure were the result of a flashback to the July, 2012 incident with the neighbor. (3/27/13 RT 5-6.) However, it subsequently specifically rejected the flashback theory. (3/27/13 RT 6-7.)

The trial court subsequently sustained the allegations and found that I.C. came within the juvenile court's jurisdiction. (3/27/13 RT 7-8)

The trial court properly followed the *Lucero L*. standard and found that I.C.'s statements had special indicia of reliability sufficient enough to support jurisdictional findings.

Assuming arguendo that the trial court improperly failed to specifically articulate that I.C.'s truthfulness "was so clear from the surrounding circumstances that the test of cross-examination would be of marginal utility," such an omission is harmless error.

First, as stated above, the trial court articulated and applied the *Lucero L*. standard to I.C.'s testimony, finding that 'the time, content and circumstances of the statement provide sufficient indicia of reliability.'" (*In re Lucero L*., supra, 22 Cal. 4th at 1247-48.) This is sufficient to demonstrate that the *Lucero* requirements were applied, and should be upheld.

Even assuming the court was required to expressly state that I.C.'s truthfulness "was so clear from the surrounding circumstances that the test of cross-examination would be of marginal utility," such an omission was harmless. The failure of a judicial officer to announce the standard of proof on the record is not fatal. It may be presumed the judicial officer, particularly a judicial officer handling a specialized caseload, applied the appropriate standard, and no specific articulation is required. (*In re Bernadette C*.

⁸ Notably, this Court did not expressly state these words when it applied the substantial evidence standard in *Lucero L.* (*In re Lucero L.*, *supra*, 22 Cal. 4th at 1249-1250.)

(1982) 127 Cal.App.3d 618, 625 ("where the issue is well settled, it is presumed that the trial judge applied the appropriate standard and no articulation is required.")

The Lucero L. standard for determining reliability was 13 years old at the time of the Jurisdiction hearing. This, and the fact that the parties thoroughly discussed *Lucero* L. in their closing arguments, demonstrates that the standard was well established. The trial court's thorough discussion of the factors demonstrating reliability in its decision demonstrates that it was aware of, and applied the standard. The trial court properly received substantial evidence, including four Agency reports, two police reports, hospital records, a S.A.R.T. examination, two CALICO interviews, and multiple days of testimony from three witnesses. The court did not come to its decision without much thought and assessment regarding the reliability of I.C.'s statements. It follows that any failure of the trial court judge to specifically articulate that it "was so clear from the surrounding circumstances that the test of cross-examination would be of marginal utility," is harmless error. (See Belair v. Riverside County Flood Control Dist. (1988) 47 Cal. 3d 550, 568: "The decision of the juvenile court, if correct, will be upheld even if the stated reasons for the decision are erroneous or incomplete".)

D. THE COURT OF APPEAL PROPERLY AFFIRMED THE TRIAL COURT'S JURISDICTIONAL FINDING BY APPLYING A SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE STANDARD OF REVIEW.

Although Appellant claims to promote a substantial evidence standard, in reality, Appellant argues that *Lucero L*. requires that the appellate court review the evidence de novo to determine if there is sufficient indicia of reliability. (OB, pg. 60-61.) The OB

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